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       1                      P R O C E E D I N G S

       2                 (Transcript follows in sequence from Volume 1.)

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  If we can take our seats,

       4       we're about ready.  I think we left off getting ready to

       5       get started with Gulf.  So, Mr. Badders.

       6                 MR. BADDERS:  Yes.  Good afternoon,

       7       Mr. Chairman.  Our first witness is Mr. Ball.  And I will

       8       note for the record that he was present this morning and

       9       he was sworn in.

      10                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Welcome, Mr. Ball.

      11                 MR. BADDERS:  We're ready to proceed.

      12                            H. R. BALL

      13       was called as a witness on behalf of Gulf Power Company

      14       and, having been duly sworn, testified as follows:

      15                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

      16       BY MR. BADDERS:

      17            Q    Mr. Ball, could you please state your full name

      18       and your business address for the record.

      19            A    Herbert Russell Ball, One Energy Place,

      20       Pensacola, Florida.

      21            Q    And what is your current job?

      22            A    I'm the Field Manager for Gulf Power Company.

      23            Q    Are you the same H. R. Ball who prefiled

      24       true-up testimony, estimated actual true-up testimony and

      25       projection testimony in this docket?
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       1            A    Yes.

       2            Q    Do you have any changes or corrections to any

       3       of that testimony?

       4            A    No.

       5            Q    If I were to ask you the same questions today,

       6       would your answers be the same?

       7            A    Yes.

       8                 MR. BADDERS:  We'd ask that the prefiled direct

       9       testimony of Mr. Ball be entered, inserted into the

      10       record as though read.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  For the record, we'll make

      12       sure that Mr. Ball's prefiled testimony will been entered

      13       into the record as though read.

      14       BY MR. BADDERS:

      15            Q    Mr. Ball, do you also have four exhibits to

      16       your testimony?

      17            A    Yes, I do.

      18                 MR. BADDERS:  I will note for the record that

      19       those have been identified as hearing Exhibits 15, 16, 17

      20       and 18.

      21                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I'm sorry.  One more time.

      22                 MR. BADDERS:  Those would be Exhibits 15, 16,

      23       17 and 18.

      24                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.

      25                 MR. BADDERS:  I'd also note that Exhibit 18 is
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       1       a confidential exhibit, which we do have copies of for

       2       the Commissioners.

       3       BY MR. BADDERS:

       4            Q    Do you have any changes to any of those

       5       exhibits?

       6            A    No, I don't.
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       1                 MR. BADDERS:  At this time we'll tender this

       2       witness for cross.  He's waiving his right for a summary.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Thank you.

       4                 Mr. Moyle, I think you're up first.

       5                        CROSS EXAMINATION

       6                 MR. MOYLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

       7       BY MR. MOYLE:

       8            Q    Mr. Ball, good afternoon.

       9            A    Good afternoon.

      10            Q    Jon Moyle.  I represent a group of large

      11       industrial users of electricity.  And you were here

      12       earlier in the morning, were you not?

      13            A    Yes, I was.

      14            Q    Okay.  And FIPUG has raised an issue related to

      15       hedging, so I want to spend most of my time asking you

      16       some questions about hedging.  That's an area that you

      17       have responsibility for; correct?

      18            A    Correct.

      19            Q    Okay.  And in terms of your responsibility for

      20       it, are you the one that runs the hedging program for,

      21       for Gulf?

      22            A    I don't actually enter into the hedge

      23       positions.  I oversee or direct the activities of the

      24       individuals that do for Gulf.

      25            Q    Okay.  And so who is your, your kind of report
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       1       up the ladder, if you will, with respect to the hedging

       2       program?

       3            A    Well, with respect to the hedging program, I

       4       report to the Chief Financial Officer of Gulf Power

       5       Company.

       6            Q    Okay.  And does Gulf Power have in effect

       7       control of its hedging operations or is there a Risk

       8       Management Committee within the Southern Group that has

       9       the ultimate control or is it some variation?

      10            A    Gulf Power controls its hedging program.

      11            Q    Okay.  Now can you describe for me the

      12       generation mix of Gulf Power in terms of its assets and

      13       what fuels those, those assets use?

      14            A    Gulf Power Company is primarily a coal-fired

      15       utility.  So the vast majority of our assets are in

      16       coal-fired generating plants.  We do also have a, one

      17       combined cycle gas-fired plant in Panama City.  We have

      18       several purchased power agreements which are all also

      19       gas-fired for the most part.  And then we have a small

      20       landfill gas facility that just went into operation about

      21       a month ago.

      22            Q    Okay.  So if we were to put percentages, I

      23       mean, not -- just give a ball park with respect to coal.

      24       Is it 70, 80, 60 percent in terms of your generation mix?

      25            A    As far as the generation mix, typically coal
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       1       makes up 75 to 80 percent.

       2            Q    And you all don't hedge coal, do you?

       3            A    Not financially, no.

       4            Q    And why, why is that?

       5            A    It's just not a commodity that's easily hedged

       6       financially because there's not a liquid commodity market

       7       for coal.  Due to the various characteristics of coal

       8       that are used at different generating plants, it's just

       9       not a homogeneous product similar to natural gas or oil.

      10            Q    Are there, are there no financial hedge

      11       projects -- excuse me -- no financial hedge products

      12       available in any way, shape or form for coal?

      13            A    Not at, not at Gulf Power Company.  No.

      14            Q    So you only have one, one natural gas plant.

      15       It's a combined cycle plant; correct?

      16            A    That's correct.

      17            Q    Okay.

      18            A    Now I, just to clarify, we have one natural

      19       gas-fired combined cycle plant that's owned and operated

      20       by Gulf Power Company.

      21            Q    Yes, sir.  I had some questions of the earlier

      22       witness about, about, about hedging.  In effect, if you

      23       had a different fuel mix, that maybe that would reduce

      24       the need to hedge.  And I'd ask that same question of

      25       you.  I mean, given the fact that coal is 80 percent,
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       1       natural gas is, what, 10 percent maybe of your fuel mix?

       2            A    In the order of 20 percent.

       3            Q    20 percent.  Okay.  And you include that

       4       landfill gas as part of the natural gas?

       5            A    Yes.  The landfill gas is very, very small.

       6            Q    Okay.  But, but given that, doesn't that

       7       provide some protection against, against price spikes for

       8       consumers, the fact that you have 80 percent coal,

       9       20 percent natural gas, as compared to maybe a utility

      10       like Tallahassee?  Are you familiar with Tallahassee and

      11       what their, what their generation mix is?

      12            A    No, I'm not.

      13            Q    Okay.  Well, I'd represent to you that just for

      14       the purposes of the question it's mainly natural

      15       gas-fired units.  But given the fact that you're

      16       80 percent coal, doesn't that provide some mitigation

      17       against increases in natural gas?

      18            A    To the point that coal-fired generation is less

      19       expensive than natural gas-fired generation at certain

      20       times, there is the ability to shift generation more

      21       heavily towards the coal side of our fleet.  And the

      22       outfit (phonetic) could potentially take place where coal

      23       prices were more expensive than gas on a

      24       cents-per-kilowatt-hour basis.  You could shift more

      25       generation towards your gas-fired assets.
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       1                 To the point that you, I mean, there's some

       2       physical limitations in that as well such as loads at a

       3       certain time and how much each one of those assets are

       4       being used.  But, yeah, I think generally you could, you

       5       could say that you could move generation around between

       6       coal and gas depending on relative price to each other.

       7            Q    And with respect to what is it, what is it that

       8       Gulf Power hedges against with respect to its hedging of

       9       natural gas?  What's the object of the hedge, if you

      10       will?

      11            A    It's to limit the price volatility of natural

      12       gas pricing.

      13            Q    And are you doing that?

      14            A    Yes.

      15            Q    And how do you know you're doing that?

      16            A    We actually measure the volatility of the price

      17       hedged and unhedged, and we've made some standard

      18       deviation calculations and come to the conclusion that,

      19       yes, indeed, a fixed price is less volatile than a

      20       floating price.

      21            Q    And that's true just because of the fact that

      22       you're hedged, right, rather than buying, you know, I'm

      23       all in on the spot market and say, well, I'm 50 percent

      24       in on the spot market and the other portion is hedged.

      25       Just the very fact that you're hedged means you won't
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       1       have as much volatility; correct?

       2            A    That's right.  If your financial hedge is

       3       essentially locking into a fixed price, obviously a fixed

       4       price is going to be not volatile.

       5            Q    How, how did the hedging program work in 2009

       6       in terms of win/loss for the, for the customers, for the

       7       consumers?

       8            A    Well, if we're talking about volatility of

       9       pricing, I would argue that, or I would state that, yes,

      10       prices were less volatile as a result of our hedging

      11       program in 2009.

      12                 In regards to the accumulated losses against

      13       associated positions, I think it was around $51 million of

      14       loss in 2009.

      15            Q    Okay.  The same question with respect to 2010.

      16            A    Well, 2010 is not complete yet.  But I think

      17       through -- the latest number I saw, I think what we filed

      18       was around 9.8 million that, our loss position through

      19       July I, believe it was.

      20            Q    Okay.  I think that was through August.  Have

      21       you updated that number?

      22            A    Have we updated the number?

      23            Q    Yes, sir.

      24            A    I do have some updated information, yes.

      25            Q    Could you provide that to the Commission with
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       1       respect to your 2010 hedging loss or gain?

       2            A    Let's see.  It looks like we're right around

       3       15 million through the end of September losses.

       4            Q    All right.  And then with respect to 2011, are

       5       you, you know, with respect to a mark to market position,

       6       do you have information as to how you are positioned

       7       relative to 2011 as we sit here today based on hedges

       8       that you already have in place?

       9            A    Based on the hedges that we already have in

      10       place, and the last I looked was as of the 29th market

      11       pricing, the, our mark to market was around $11.5 million

      12       of loss or projected loss.

      13                 MR. MOYLE:  Mr. Chairman, I have an exhibit I'd

      14       like to use with this witness, if I could approach and

      15       pass it out.

      16                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes, sir.  I think Staff will

      17       help you pass that out.

      18                 For identification purposes we'll mark this as

      19       Exhibit 68.

      20                 (Exhibit 68 marked for identification.)

      21                 Do you have a short title for this?

      22                 MR. MOYLE:  The title is Composite of Exhibit

      23       of Excerpted Gulf Hedging Information.  I think it's

      24       already been entered on the cover sheet there.

      25                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We're going to have to send
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       1       you to the same school as Mr. Bennett on short titles.

       2                 MR. MOYLE:  I'm going to interpose the same

       3       lawyer defense.

       4       BYMR. MOYLE:

       5            Q    Sir, I've handed you what's been marked as

       6       Exhibit 68.  Could you identify the three documents

       7       attached to the exhibit, please?

       8            A    The first two pages are schedules out of my

       9       true-up testimony, and the third page is out of Gulf's

      10       risk management plan for fuel procurement, which, which

      11       we, I believe we have filed it for 2011.  It looks, it

      12       appears that it's the 2011 plan.

      13            Q    Yes, sir, it is.  And for your counsel, there

      14       was some confidential information that was found below on

      15       that pricing strategy, and I just blanked that out so

      16       that we could talk publicly about this exhibit, so.

      17                 MR. BADDERS:  I can confirm that.  There's no

      18       confidential information on either of these pages.

      19                 MR. MOYLE:  Thank you.

      20       BY MR. MOYLE:

      21            Q    All right.  So the first Schedule 4, what is

      22       the purpose of this document?

      23            A    The purpose of this document was to demonstrate

      24       the, the volatility of pricing relative to market price

      25       relative to hedge price for the period January '06
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       1       through December '09.

       2            Q    All right.  And if you look at the second

       3       column, gas cost for generation actual cost, and then you

       4       look at the fourth line, gas cost for generation hedge

       5       cost.

       6            A    Yes.

       7            Q    Am I reading that so that the, that the one

       8       with the hedge cost is what you, what you actually paid

       9       for it per the hedge, and the second line is what the

      10       cost was with respect to the market; is that right?

      11            A    The gas cost for generation hedged cost is

      12       essentially the sum of the market price of gas that we

      13       paid for that particular month with a hedge settlement

      14       amount added to it.

      15            Q    All right.  And so the last two lines, the gas

      16       cost of generation actual cost and the gas cost of

      17       generation hedged cost, what do those two columns

      18       indicate?

      19            A    That's essentially the total cost divided by

      20       the MMBtus burned for that particular month.

      21            Q    So in January 2006, what, what was the, what

      22       was the cost of your, of your hedge generation?  It was

      23       11.53 per million Btu; is that right?

      24            A    That's correct.

      25            Q    Okay.  And on the, on the second page, I
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       1       carried over the columns with the, with the handwritten

       2       notes.  Those are mine.  But there are a couple of

       3       numbers at the top with brackets around them.  What do

       4       those represent?

       5            A    Those represent gains.

       6            Q    Those represent financial gains; is that right?

       7            A    Financial gains in those months.  That's

       8       correct.

       9            Q    Okay.  So those months would be good months for

      10       the consumer in that they would have a financial gain;

      11       correct?

      12            A    Well, that's not the purpose of the program, to

      13       generate gains or losses.  Our purpose of the program and

      14       the purpose of this schedule is to demonstrate that, yes,

      15       indeed, hedging does reduce volatility.

      16            Q    Okay.  But at the end of the day, and I, I

      17       understand the reducing volatility, but with respect to

      18       what you're here asking this Commission for today, it's

      19       to set a fuel factor that would take into account losses

      20       in the hedging program; correct?

      21            A    That's correct.

      22            Q    Okay.  So when I use the comment about, well,

      23       that was a situation in which the consumers benefited

      24       financially, that's what I'm referring to.  Because

      25       ultimately that is a measurement with respect to the
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       1       consumers and how much it impacts their bills; correct?

       2            A    In the case of the hedged settlement amount it

       3       definitely does impact the consumer's bill.  I agree with

       4       that.  It doesn't reflect necessarily the cost of fuel to

       5       the consumer during that month.

       6            Q    So this chart, I counted 48 months that are

       7       reflected on this chart starting January 2006 running

       8       down to December 2009.  And out of, out of those 48

       9       months, you would agree that there were five months in

      10       which the settlement total cost benefited the consumer

      11       financially; correct?

      12            A    There was a gain in those five months.  That's

      13       correct.

      14            Q    So we've heard some testimony earlier and

      15       there's some information in the hedging report about,

      16       well, if the gas prices are, are coming down, maybe there

      17       will be some, some losses because you were hedged at a

      18       higher amount.  Isn't that generally right?

      19            A    Yes.  If you enter into a hedge position at a

      20       higher cost than eventually what the market determines

      21       the price of gas is going to be, yes, you will incur a

      22       loss.

      23            Q    And, conversely, if the prices are going up and

      24       you're, you're hedged, then you should see a gain;

      25       correct?
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       1            A    That's correct.

       2            Q    Okay.  So the last chart here is, is --

       3       describe that, if you would, the chart that's on the

       4       third page of the exhibit.

       5            A    Okay.

       6            Q    Just tell us what that is.

       7            A    That's just a historical natural gas price by

       8       month.  So this is actual market prices for gas by month.

       9            Q    Okay.  And it includes the time frame, this

      10       chart includes the time frame that's represented on the

      11       first two pages of your exhibit; correct?

      12            A    Yes, it does.

      13            Q    Okay.  Now looking at the chart, you know, it

      14       appears that there are periods where the gas price is, is

      15       going up that's not necessarily reflected with additional

      16       savings, financial savings for, for the consumers;

      17       correct?

      18            A    Well, the -- I'm not sure that you can draw a

      19       relationship between the fact that the price is going up

      20       and hedging gains or losses.  It just depends on at what

      21       point in time you actually entered into a hedge

      22       transaction and what that reflected as far as a

      23       settlement, what the price in the market was at the time

      24       of the settlement of the, of the hedge position.

      25            Q    As part of your hedging program do you all try
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       1       to figure out which way the market is going and time

       2       your, your hedges depending on, on which way you think

       3       the market is going to move?

       4            A    No.  We don't try to guess where the market is

       5       going.  Essentially what we do in the majority of cases

       6       is we know if the market is trending downward or trending

       7       upward.  And our general policy is that when we enter

       8       into hedges, we're entering into the hedges as the market

       9       is declining in price.

      10            Q    The, the people that hedge financially that are

      11       up on, up on the commodities markets, they in effect are

      12       taking a bet on which way the market is going often

      13       times; correct?

      14            A    No.  I would not agree with that statement.

      15            Q    I'm not saying you, but I'm saying the, you

      16       know, the gas brokers and things like that, they're not

      17       --

      18            A    No.  People that are speculating on the

      19       marketplace?  Yeah.  Speculators do make a bet.  But

      20       that's not the purpose of this program; it's not to

      21       speculate.

      22            Q    Right.  Right.  I guess, I guess the concern

      23       that some of the consumers have is if I looked at the 48

      24       months and you're in the money five months, I mean,

      25       that's not a great percentage in terms of being in the
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       1       money; correct?  What is it, 12 percent, give or take?

       2            A    Well, I just reiterate our position on hedges

       3       and losses is that we are -- this hedge program is not

       4       designed to generate gains and it's certainly not

       5       designed to generate losses.

       6                 Essentially all we're trying to do is limit the

       7       volatility of the natural gas price, and that's the

       8       purpose of this program.

       9                 There are going to be times when there are

      10       gains, there are going to be times when there are losses.

      11       I think if you'll look at the entire period, not just from

      12       2006, but if you'll look at the inception of the program

      13       where we've been hedging since 2002, I think the first

      14       four years indicated for those, the cumulative amount for

      15       those years, we were all -- there were a lot of gains in

      16       those first four years and then there started to be

      17       losses.  And it's directly related to when you enter into

      18       a hedge position relative to where the market is going in

      19       the future.  If there are big market declines, you can

      20       expect to have hedge losses.

      21            Q    Yeah.  And I, I would have expected, given this

      22       chart that you have here, if you look between 2006 and

      23       2007, you see that there is a spot where it was down to

      24       $4, and then it jumped up to, it looks like, you know,

      25       $9 give or take.  Do you see that?
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       1            A    I see that.

       2            Q    And I would have expected that, given that

       3       increase in, in price, that you would have had a

       4       corresponding entry in your Schedule 4 that would have

       5       reflected that the hedge positions worked out for

       6       consumers.  But that, that's not the case; correct?

       7            A    Well, certainly if we were, had a crystal ball

       8       and we knew that at some point in time there was going to

       9       be a, you could hedge all your gas at $4 and you had the

      10       foresight of knowing what the future was and you -- we

      11       would have certainly hedged it all as much as we could at

      12       $4.  But we don't have the benefit of that foreknowledge

      13       of where the market is going.

      14                 So the conclusion that just because there is a

      15       $4 price on here that you can expect to have the gains for

      16       the future period, that just doesn't hold true in the case

      17       of our hedging program because we don't hedge all of our

      18       gas at one point in time.  It's a process over -- I mean,

      19       we're essentially hedging gas every month.  There's a

      20       strategy that comes out monthly, and if it looks

      21       appropriate to enter into hedges, we'll do that.  We're

      22       just not doing it all at one time.

      23            Q    Okay.  You're familiar with the PSC's order

      24       that there is Mr. -- Commissioner Skop had asked some

      25       questions about it earlier.  There was a recent order
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       1       PSC-080667.  Are you familiar with that order?

       2            A    To some degree, yes.

       3            Q    Okay.  And you try to build your hedging plan

       4       consistent with that order; correct?

       5            A    That's correct.

       6            Q    Okay.  There's a statement in that order, I'll

       7       just read it to you.  It says, "Each utility must

       8       continue to gauge its customers' tolerance of the cost

       9       associated with hedging versus the benefits of reduced

      10       fuel cost volatility and any resulting rate increases."

      11       Do you agree with that statement?

      12            A    I -- if it's in the order, yes, I agree with

      13       it.

      14                 (Laughter.)

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Smart man.

      16       BY MR. MOYLE:

      17            Q    Yeah.  It talked about the PSC audit results

      18       regarding hedging.  But if you did not have a hedging

      19       program and if you weren't here today asking the, the

      20       Commission to approve 50 million in losses for 2009, do

      21       you know how much that would translate into on a, on a

      22       customer's bill, a thousand megawatt typical customer,

      23       residential customer that you have?

      24            A    No, I don't.

      25            Q    Okay.  The same order, are you aware that it
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       1       was reported that the OPC's comments were that, and I'm

       2       quoting, with respect to reducing fuel price volatility

       3       felt by retail customers, which is the single purpose of

       4       hedging identified by the utilities, the hedging

       5       activities are of limited value to customers, while the

       6       cost of those activities have never been quantified

       7       satisfactorily?  And that, that's a quote from OPC.  So

       8       I'll ask you the same question with respect to whether

       9       you agree with that, with that preface.  But do you agree

      10       that, that, that the hedging activities are of limited

      11       value to customers?

      12            A    No, I don't agree with that.

      13            Q    And that's because of the fact that it, in your

      14       opinion, reduces volatility, fuel price volatility?

      15            A    Well, due to the fact that the Commission has,

      16       has, has issued an order that said it is to the benefit

      17       of the customers.

      18            Q    Okay.

      19            A    So, again, I'm going -- I'll agree with the

      20       Commission on this one.

      21            Q    I got you.  Now, but just beyond the order,

      22       if -- do you have any other basis to say that other than

      23       the fact that that's what the Commission said in its

      24       order?

      25            A    Well, the, the hedging program complies with
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       1       the order and it is accomplishing the goal or the

       2       objective that the Commission set forth in the order, and

       3       that's to limit price volatility of natural gas.

       4            Q    You all didn't participate in hedging

       5       activities prior to the 1992 order; correct?

       6            A    We didn't, we didn't have any natural gas-fired

       7       generation until, I think, 2002 or 2003.

       8                 MR. MOYLE:  Okay.  One, one second, please.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Take your time.

      10                 MR. MOYLE:  Those are all the questions I have.

      11       Thank you.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you, sir.

      13                 Mr. Beck, any?  Staff?

      14                 MS. BENNETT:  I have a couple.

      15                        CROSS EXAMINATION

      16       BY MS. BENNETT:

      17            Q    Mr. Ball, you were in the room earlier when

      18       Mr. McCallister from Progress was testifying; is that

      19       correct?

      20            A    That's correct.

      21            Q    And we discussed with Mr. McCallister the 2008

      22       staff management hedging report.  Were you there for that

      23       discussion?

      24            A    Yes, I was.

      25            Q    Were you in the position of having
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       1       responsibility for hedging for Gulf during the 2008

       2       period time frame?

       3            A    Yes.

       4            Q    And were you involved with the Staff's data

       5       request and the auditors when they sought information

       6       from Gulf on the hedging results?

       7            A    Yes, I was.

       8            Q    Can you tell the Commission the process that

       9       Gulf was involved in in providing the information to the

      10       Staff for the hedging report?

      11            A    Well, just generally I can say that we provided

      12       quite a bit of data.  We sat down and had interviews

      13       regarding the hedging program not only with myself, other

      14       staff members, the individuals that actually performed

      15       the hedging, entered into the transaction.  So there was

      16       quite a bit of interaction between the staff that

      17       prepared this audit and ourselves.

      18            Q    And did that culminate in the issuance of Order

      19       Number PSC-080667-PAA?

      20            A    Yes.

      21                 MS. BENNETT:  I have no further questions of

      22       this witness.

      23                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.  To the Commission

      24       board.

      25                 Commissioner Skop.
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       1                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Thank you.

       2                 Good afternoon, Mr. Ball.

       3                 THE WITNESS:  Good afternoon.

       4                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Just a quick question.  On

       5       page 8 of your direct testimony dated March 12th, 2010,

       6       beginning at line nine, you indicated that Gulf uses

       7       physical hedges to reduce its price volatility in the

       8       coal procurement program; is that correct?

       9                 THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

      10                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  And the majority of Gulf

      11       Power's generation is coal-fired generation; is that

      12       correct?

      13                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, the majority is.

      14                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And then in relation

      15       to what's been marked for identification as Exhibit 68,

      16       on the last page of that exhibit, which is identified as

      17       Page 39 of 102 where it shows the historical NYMEX

      18       natural gas prices, could I ask you to take a look at

      19       that chart real quick.

      20                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

      21                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And on the curve

      22       shown for price and dollars per MMBtu, starting at mid

      23       2005 to the beginning of 2006, do you see that sharp

      24       escalation in natural gas prices?

      25                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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       1                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And then also on

       2       that same graph beginning at the midpoint of 2007

       3       continuing on to what appears to be the midpoint of 2008,

       4       do you see also that sharp increase in natural gas

       5       prices?

       6                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, I see that.

       7                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  What would be the --

       8       are you familiar with the Commission's rule for midcourse

       9       fuel corrections?

      10                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, I am.

      11                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And that requires if

      12       there's a 10 percent under recovery, that the

      13       investor-owned utility would have to come into the

      14       Commission and request either recovery of those amounts

      15       or show, you know, if it's under recovery, overrecovery.

      16                 What would happen in those instances if natural

      17       gas prices had not been hedged?  Would that result, in

      18       your opinion, of the utility would have had to come in

      19       for those midcourse corrections?

      20                 THE WITNESS:  Well, in the case of Gulf, since

      21       natural gas is a relatively small percentage of our total

      22       fuel cost, I'm not really certain that our hedge position

      23       would have prevented us from having to come in for a

      24       midcourse correction in these periods.

      25                 Now obviously the more natural gas you have as
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       1       a fuel source for your generating plants, then, yes, that

       2       would be a true statement that it could potentially

       3       prevent you from coming in for a midcourse correction.

       4                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  So in Gulf's

       5       specific case, because the percentage of gas-fired

       6       generation is small in comparison to its total generation

       7       portfolio or generation mix, even if natural gas prices

       8       were to increase precipitously upward by over 100 percent

       9       what they were at any given point in time, that probably

      10       would not trigger because the, trigger the midcourse

      11       correction because it's based on the entire fuel

      12       portfolio; is that correct?

      13                 THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  I mean, other

      14       than, you know, I haven't really studied this in great

      15       detail, so I wouldn't say that it's not possible that a

      16       very large increase in natural gas prices, if we were not

      17       hedged, could, could potentially result in having to make

      18       a midcourse correction.

      19                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And any time that

      20       you enter into a, a hedge, whether it be a financial

      21       hedge or a physical transaction or subsequently unwind

      22       that hedge, there is a transaction cost associated with

      23       doing so; is that correct?

      24                 THE WITNESS:  Only to the, only to the point

      25       that there is a gain or a loss.  I mean, we don't
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       1       actually pay any, any fees associated with those

       2       transactions.

       3                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  All right.  And

       4       finally, on that same exhibit, which is, I think, the

       5       third page in, which is identified as Schedule 4, page

       6       2 of 2, where it actually shows -- I think that you

       7       mentioned that the settlement total being the numbers in

       8       parentheses are actually savings to Gulf ratepayers as a

       9       result of the hedge transaction in those months; is that

      10       correct?

      11                 THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  Those are gains.

      12       Yes.

      13                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And correlating

      14       those to the natural gas curve, those gains occurred in

      15       months in which the price of natural gas on the forward

      16       curves were rising significantly; is that correct?

      17                 THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

      18                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And with respect to

      19       placing hedges, would you agree that the timing of those

      20       hedges is important as to ascertaining at any given time

      21       whether that hedge will result in a savings or a cost to

      22       ratepayers?

      23                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.  The, the time when you

      24       actually enter into a transaction or enter into a hedge

      25       position, that does determine at the time that you settle
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       1       it relative to the market price whether there will be a

       2       gain or a loss.

       3                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  So based on hedging

       4       practices, and I think that if I heard you correctly, the

       5       hedging is done by Southern Company, not Gulf

       6       specifically; is that correct?

       7                 THE WITNESS:  These, this program is -- the

       8       hedge transactions are entered into by an employee with

       9       Southern Company Services in Birmingham.  Correct.

      10                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  So noting that the,

      11       where we looked at where there were -- I'm trying to

      12       think of the right word -- where there were savings to

      13       the ratepayers in that specific month, I mean months in

      14       which gas was rising, the hedges were in place, it

      15       ultimately saved customers money.

      16                 On those other instances of the curve where gas

      17       had increased sharply but there were no savings, could

      18       that be due to the fact that the hedges were not in

      19       place, in place yet to explain that discrepancy that

      20       Mr. Moyle was getting to where he asked -- he asked a

      21       question about the savings and then noted --

      22                 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

      23                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  -- on subsequent portions

      24       of that graph where the data had not shown related

      25       savings, if you will, for the, for the same type of
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       1       event.  But I know that the data on the exhibit only goes

       2       back to 2006 and doesn't look at, you know, other points

       3       in time.

       4                 But I think that he, he mentioned, Mr. Moyle,

       5       correct me if I'm wrong, looking at specifically one

       6       point in time where there was no savings, although gas

       7       peaked up.  And I think that was in mid 2006 to 2007, I

       8       think, was the question that I heard asked.  So I was

       9       trying to better understand why that could be and whether

      10       that might have something to do with the timing of the

      11       hedges that were in place at that point in time, if you

      12       might be able to elaborate.

      13                 THE WITNESS:  Well, without actually looking at

      14       each individual hedge transaction, just generally what I

      15       would say is that many times we enter into hedge

      16       positions years in advance of the actual settlement time

      17       period.  So if indeed we had entered all these hedge

      18       transactions, say, in, two thousand -- early 2005 and

      19       settled them all in, at the peak, 2006, yes, you would

      20       expect to have a fairly large gain.  But I just don't

      21       know the relationship of when we entered these hedges

      22       relative to when they were actually settled.

      23                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  Thank you.

      24                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you, Commissioner Skop.

      25                 Anybody else?  Any redirect?
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       1                 MR. BADDERS:  No redirect.  I would like to

       2       move his exhibits into the record.  That would be Exhibit

       3       15, 16, 17 and 18.

       4                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We want to move Exhibit 15,

       5       16, 17 and 18.  Are there any objections to any of those

       6       four?  Seeing none, so moved.

       7                 (Exhibits 15, 16, 17 and 18 admitted into the

       8       record.)

       9                 MS. BENNETT:  I believe, Mr. Chairman, that

      10       Mr. Moyle also had an exhibit for this witness to move

      11       into the record.

      12                 MR. MOYLE:  Yeah.  It's 68, I think it was

      13       marked, which is the composite exhibit that there's been

      14       some discussion on.  So I'd go ahead and move that in to

      15       make sure the record is clear and captures that.

      16                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We also want to move

      17       Exhibit 68.  Do we have any objection to that?

      18                 MR. BADDERS:  No objection.

      19                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  So moved then.

      20                 (Exhibit 68 admitted into the record.)

      21                 Are we done with this witness?

      22                 MR. BADDERS:  I believe we are.  We would ask

      23       that Witness Ball be excused.

      24                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Do we have any other

      25       questions or foreseeable questions for this witness?
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       1                 MS. BENNETT:  Staff does not.

       2                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. Ball, you are now

       3       excused.  Thank you for coming down.

       4                 Mr. Badders.

       5                 MR. BADDERS:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  The next two

       6       witnesses should go fairly quickly.  They're both

       7       stipulated witnesses for Gulf.

       8                 The first one is R. W. Dodd.  We would ask that

       9       his prefiled direct testimony be entered into the record

      10       as though read.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's enter Mr. Dodd's

      12       prefiled testimony into the record as though it was read.

      13                 MR. BADDERS:  I also note that he has, I

      14       believe it is three exhibits which have been identified

      15       as Exhibit 19, 20 and 21.  I would move those into the

      16       record.

      17                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Do we have any objections

      18       about Exhibits 19, 20 and 21?  Seeing none, let's move

      19       those into the record.

      20                 (Exhibits 19, 20 and 21 admitted into the

      21       record.)

      22

      23

      24

      25

                         FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                       237

       1                 MR. BADDERS:  Moving to the next witness, M. A.

       2       Young, I would ask that his prefiled direct testimony be

       3       entered into the record as though read.

       4                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's move M. A. Young's

       5       prefiled testimony into the record as though read.

       6                 MR. BADDERS:  We also have two exhibits for

       7       Mr. Young.  That would be hearing Exhibit 22 and 23.  I

       8       would move those into the record also.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Do we have any objections to

      10       Exhibits 22 or 23?  Hearing none, we will move those into

      11       the record as well.

      12                 (Exhibits 22 and 23 admitted into the record.)
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Does that conclude your case?

       2                 MR. BADDERS:  Yes.  It does, Mr. Chairman.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you, sir.

       4                 Okay.  Let's go to Mr. Beasley.

       5                 MR. BEASLEY:  Mr. Chairman, our first three

       6       witnesses have been stipulated.  If I could move or ask

       7       that Mr. Aldazabal's direct testimony be inserted into

       8       the record as though read.  It's three sets of testimony

       9       2009 true-up, the estimated/actual for 2010 and his

      10       projection testimony.  And I would ask that that be

      11       inserted into the record as though read.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's add that into the

      13       record as though read.

      14                 MR. BEASLEY:  And I would move the admission of

      15       his exhibits, which are 24, 25 and 26.

      16                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Do we have any objection or

      17       questions to those exhibits?  Seeing none, let's move

      18       those into the record as well.

      19                 (Exhibits 24, 25 and 26 admitted into the

      20       record.)
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      25
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       1                 MR. BEASLEY:  The next Tampa Electric witness

       2       is also stipulated, Mr. Brian S. Buckley.  I would like

       3       to move or ask that his direct testimony be inserted into

       4       the record as though read.  That's his true-up and

       5       projection testimony for the generating performance

       6       incentive factor.

       7                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's enter Mr. Buckley's

       8       record -- I'm sorry -- testimony, prefiled testimony into

       9       the record as though, as though it was read.

      10                 MR. BEASLEY:  Thank you.  And I would also move

      11       his Exhibits 27 and 28 into the record.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  If we don't have any

      13       objections to 27 and 28, then we will move those as well

      14       into the record.

      15                 (Exhibits 27 and 28 admitted into the record.)
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       1                 MR. BEASLEY:  The final stipulated witness for

       2       Tampa Electric is Mr. Benjamin F. Smith.  I would like to

       3       request that his projection testimony be inserted into

       4       the record as though read.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will insert Mr. Smith's

       6       testimony into the record as though read.

       7                 MR. BEASLEY:  And he does not have an exhibit.
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       1                 MR. BEASLEY:  So that brings us to Ms. Joann

       2       Wehle.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Now Ms. Wehle was here

       4       earlier?

       5                 MR. BEASLEY:  Yes.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Welcome, Ms. Wehle.

       7                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

       8                           JOANN WEHLE

       9       was called as a witness on behalf of Tampa Electric

      10       Company and, having been duly sworn, testified as follows:

      11                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

      12       BY MR. BEASLEY:

      13            Q    Would you please state your name and your

      14       business address.

      15            A    My name is Joann Wehle.  My business address is

      16       Tampa Electric Company, 702 North Franklin Street, Tampa,

      17       Florida 33602.

      18            Q    Have your duties changed since your filed your

      19       true-up and projection testimonies?

      20            A    Pardon me.  Yes, they have.

      21            Q    And what are they now?

      22            A    I accepted a new position about a month ago

      23       with, with the electric company for a sales and marketing

      24       position for the utilities.

      25            Q    Thank you.  Ms. Wehle, do you have any
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       1       corrections to make to your April 1, 2010, final true-up

       2       testimony?

       3            A    Pardon me.  Yes, I do.  Actually on page 3 of

       4       my testimony, line 20, the number that is mentioned there

       5       for $184 million should read $193 million.

       6            Q    With that change and the change that you

       7       described in your, in your position with the Company, if

       8       I were to ask you the questions contained in your final

       9       true-up testimony, would your answers be the same?

      10            A    Yes, they would.

      11                 MR. BEASLEY:  I would ask that Ms. Wehle's

      12       projection, or, excuse me, true-up testimony be inserted

      13       red into the record as though read.

      14                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's move Ms. Wehle's

      15       testimony, prefiled testimony into the record as though

      16       it were read.

      17       BY MR. BEASLEY:

      18            Q    Did you also file and submit on September 1,

      19       2010, projection testimony of Joann T. Wehle?

      20            A    Yes, I did.

      21            Q    Except for the change in your position, if I

      22       asked you the questions contained in that testimony,

      23       would your answers be the same?

      24            A    Yes, they would.

      25                 MR. BEASLEY:  I would ask that Ms. Wehle's
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       1       projection testimony be inserted into the record as

       2       though read.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's also insert that into

       4       the record as if it were read.
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       1       BY MR. BEASLEY:

       2            Q    Ms. Wehle, could you please summarize your

       3       testimonies?

       4            A    Yes.  Thank you.

       5                 Good afternoon, Commissioners.  My name is

       6       Joann Wehle, and although I was recently promoted to a

       7       different position within Tampa Electric, I remain the

       8       sponsor of the testimony before you today prepared by

       9       myself as the Director of Wholesale Marketing and Fuels

      10       for Tampa Electric Company.

      11                 My direct testimony addresses a variety of

      12       fuel-related issues, including the mitigation of price

      13       risk associated with natural gas purchases.  My testimony

      14       supports the prudence of Tampa Electric's actions to

      15       mitigate price volatility as reported in the Company's

      16       April 2010 and August 2010 hedging reports, as well as

      17       the appropriateness of Tampa Electric's 2011 risk

      18       management plan.

      19                 As noted in our risk management plan filings

      20       with the Commission, our hedging plan approved by our

      21       company's Risk Authorizing Committee describes the

      22       Company's strategies to reduce natural gas price

      23       volatility using a disciplined, nonspeculative approach

      24       for our customers.

      25                 Since the inception of our hedge program, the
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       1       Company has consistently applied the plan to our natural

       2       gas needs and for the benefit of our customers by

       3       limiting exposure to the volatile nature of natural gas

       4       price swings in the marketplace.  And this concludes my

       5       summary.

       6            Q    Ms. Wehle, did you also prepare and submit the

       7       documents identified collectively as hearing Exhibit 29

       8       in the Comprehensive Exhibit list?

       9            A    Yes, I did.

      10                 MR. BEASLEY:  We tender Ms. Wehle for

      11       questions.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.

      13                 Mr. Moyle.

      14                 MR. MOYLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

      15                        CROSS EXAMINATION

      16       BY MR. MOYLE:

      17            Q    As part of your responsibilities, at least

      18       before the job change, you keep up with the trends in

      19       fuels in terms of their directional movement, do you not?

      20            A    Yes.

      21            Q    Okay.  So as we sit here today, can you comment

      22       on the directional movement of natural gas?

      23            A    I believe I can.

      24            Q    Okay.  And would you agree that it's

      25       directionally headed down?
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       1            A    It has been heading down, yes.

       2            Q    Okay.  And there was the chart that was just

       3       referred to with the Gulf witness that showed the NYMEX

       4       prices.  Did you happen to get a copy of that?

       5            A    I do not have a copy of that.

       6                 MR. MOYLE:  If I could just hand her that

       7       exhibit.

       8                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Sure.

       9                 MR. MOYLE:  Do you have a copy, Jim?

      10                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

      11                 MR. MOYLE:  I referred her to the last page of

      12       Exhibit 68, which is the NYMEX chart.

      13       BY MR. MOYLE:

      14            Q    And the question I want to ask you is, is that

      15       given where gas prices are today --

      16            A    Yes.

      17            Q    -- you know, Commissioner Skop previously

      18       talked about near record lows.  Is Tampa Electric giving

      19       consideration to hedging a significant amount of natural

      20       gas currently for the near seeable future to lock it in

      21       at these low prices compared to the prices that were

      22       seen, say, in 2008?

      23            A    We are going to follow our risk management

      24       plan, which requires hedging of natural gas prices.  And

      25       we've applied that consistently, and so we are going to
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       1       continue to lock in those prices on a go-forward basis.

       2            Q    Does the risk management plan give flexibility

       3       to the people who are making hedge decisions to adjust to

       4       the extent that they see something or something occurs in

       5       the markets?  You know, natural gas goes to a dollar, for

       6       example.  Could you, could you alter your plan so that

       7       you go in, you know, at a dollar?  And that even if you

       8       guess wrong and it goes to 50 cents, you know, the

       9       consumers are very well insulated from a situation that

      10       it might go to $10.

      11            A    Our plan does not have a price mechanism to

      12       change our strategy.  And so therefore while we do have

      13       bands within which we operate within, depending on how

      14       much time is left before that particular month settles,

      15       we would continue to operate within those, within those

      16       bands and then appropriately hedge the commodity for

      17       those months going forward.  We are not authorized to

      18       make changes.

      19                 And, you know, I would say we don't look at

      20       price as a mechanism to change those plans because I

      21       think at any given point in time you could then be second

      22       guessed as was that the right time to make that change?

      23                 In your example, why would you hedge everything

      24       at a dollar and then we would be second guessed as to why

      25       didn't you hedge it at 50 cents, if it were to fall that
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       1       low?

       2                 And so therefore we feel like a much more

       3       disciplined approach over time will, will yield a, the

       4       result of mitigating price volatility for our customers.

       5            Q    If you could hedge at a dollar, you wouldn't

       6       hear a word from FIPUG, I promise you.

       7                 (Laughter.)

       8                 I had read an excerpt from an order, 080667,

       9       that talked about utilities gauging customers' tolerance

      10       for costs associated with hedging.  You would agree that

      11       that's an important part of hedging, to, to keep the

      12       finger on the pulse with respect to the impact upon

      13       customers about the gains or losses; correct?

      14            A    I believe it's, it's our responsibility for all

      15       of our activities related to customers.

      16            Q    Okay.  And at least with respect to FIPUG

      17       members, you're hearing a little bit of concern about

      18       some of the, some of the losses; correct?

      19            A    I've heard that today.  Yes, sir.

      20            Q    Yes.  And with respect to the 2009 results, was

      21       that the number you had changed in your testimony?  Is

      22       that right?

      23            A    Yes, sir.

      24            Q    And it went from, what, 184 to 193?

      25            A    We had originally posted it as $184 million.
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       1       However, when the audit staff came in this past summer,

       2       we found an error in one of our months and corrected it,

       3       and it did go to 193 million.

       4            Q    And that's for 2009?

       5            A    Correct.

       6            Q    What -- describe 2010, if you would, in terms

       7       of customer gains or losses.

       8            A    Through September of this year we're in the

       9       neighborhood of about $53 million loss.

      10            Q    And then for 2011?

      11            A    For '11 -- and, again, remember, it's, it's

      12       completely unrealized at this point, so, you know, it

      13       changes every single day.  We're in the neighborhood of

      14       about an $11 million loss.

      15            Q    And just so we're clear on that, that's if you

      16       basically mark to market today, you would be $11 million

      17       underwater with respect to cost?

      18            A    Correct.  $11 million loss mark to market.

      19            Q    Okay.  Now could you just briefly describe the

      20       generation mix that TECO has?  Aren't you predominantly

      21       coal?

      22            A    We are predominantly coal.  We've added some

      23       significant amount of natural gas in the 2003/2004 time

      24       frame.  So we're at about a 55 to 60 percent coal, and

      25       then the balance pretty much is natural gas and less than
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       1       1 percent oil.

       2            Q    Okay.  You don't hedge coal?

       3            A    We do not financially hedge coal.  We

       4       physically hedge it.

       5            Q    Okay.  And describe the difference, if you

       6       would, between physically and financially hedging?

       7            A    Sure.  There is a very illiquid NYMEX contract,

       8       if you will, that basically is for a low sulfur type of,

       9       of product, low sulfur coal.

      10                 Our generation units burn high sulfur coal.

      11       And so, therefore, for us to enter into any kind of a

      12       NYMEX coal contract, it just wouldn't work because it

      13       isn't the type of fuel that we burn.  So, therefore, what

      14       we do is we engage with our counter parties and fix the

      15       price on a go-forward basis for the term of the contract.

      16       Sometimes they're spot contracts, sometimes they're long,

      17       longer than that.

      18            Q    Could you also do that with natural gas in

      19       terms of fixing contracts with the parties just as you

      20       describe for coal?

      21            A    We could.  You know, and we have on occasion

      22       done very, a little bit with actually natural gas

      23       producers.  But for the most part we stick with financial

      24       over-the-counter products for natural gas.

      25            Q    There's an exhibit that I want to ask you a few
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       1       questions about in a minute.

       2            A    Okay.

       3            Q    But a couple, a couple of points.  With respect

       4       to reducing the risk of volatility, that's the objective

       5       of the hedge program; correct?

       6            A    That is correct.

       7            Q    Okay.  There are, there are other ways that

       8       that can be accomplished, such as buying natural gas and

       9       storing it; correct?

      10            A    Yes.  But you would eventually, you'd still be

      11       purchasing natural gas and you'd be paying a certain

      12       price for that and putting it in storage for later use.

      13       So I would submit to you that it's really not reducing

      14       price volatility.

      15            Q    How much capacity do y'all have to store

      16       natural gas?

      17            A    We just increased our storage capability to

      18       1.25 million with our Bay Gas Storage facility outside of

      19       Mobile, Alabama.

      20            Q    Okay.  And 1.25 million, just to give a little

      21       bit of relative amount of that, how many, how many days

      22       would that run your natural gas assets?

      23            A    Typically if you were to say our natural gas

      24       take can be anywhere upwards, you know, between 200,000

      25       to 300,000 in the summertime, if you do the math there,
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       1       that's, you know, literally five to seven days at

       2       different times during the year.  And all that wouldn't

       3       necessarily be available to us anyway at any given time

       4       because there's requirements for rejection -- injection

       5       and then withdrawal.

       6            Q    So you think -- is a five- to seven-day amount

       7       --

       8            A    That would be the maximum storage capability.

       9            Q    Okay.  You use Nucleus Risk Management System;

      10       is that right?

      11            A    We do.

      12            Q    Okay.  And does that system help you make

      13       qualitative judgments about your hedging program, or is

      14       it just about, you know, keeping track of this contract

      15       was executed on this day?  More sort of mechanical, if

      16       you will.

      17            A    It's more transaction based than qualitative

      18       based.  But what it does is it allows us to maintain our

      19       system of controls by looking at authorized users and who

      20       has the ability to transact at different levels and at

      21       different tenors.  And so it does provide a control

      22       mechanism from that perspective.

      23            Q    So with respect to the qualitative judgments,

      24       how are those made at TECO?

      25            A    As far as qualitative on our program?
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       1            Q    Yes, ma'am.

       2            A    Well, the nucleus does help out because it lets

       3       us know how we're doing within our plan.  And so, again,

       4       very transactional based and percentage based on volume.

       5            Q    Do you know, has the plan been materially

       6       changed since 2002?

       7            A    The only change that was made to the plan, and

       8       I believe it was around 2005, was an increase in the

       9       length of time which we can hedge within.  So we

      10       increased it from an 18 months' viewpoint into the future

      11       to 24 months.

      12                 MR. MOYLE:  Okay.  Mr. Chair, if I could

      13       approach with an exhibit.

      14                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Sure thing.

      15                 MR. MOYLE:  And I've spoken with counsel for

      16       TECO.  This is a confidential exhibit, so we need to

      17       treat it that way.  And maybe, however, however the

      18       preference is, collect it at the end, but it is a

      19       confidential exhibit that I'm going to have some

      20       questions about.

      21                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  If I can get Staff to

      22       help you pass that out.  We will number that as number

      23       69.

      24                 (Exhibit 69 marked for identification.)

      25                 MS. HELTON:  Mr. Chairman, I notice that it's
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       1       not in a red folder, which is our typical practice.  So

       2       does it have "Confidential" stamped in the front,

       3       Mr. Moyle, so we can at least --

       4                 MR. MOYLE:  Yes.

       5                 MS. HELTON:  Okay.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  And I take it the

       7       confidential stuff is highlighted?

       8                 MR. MOYLE:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  The

       9       confidential information is highlighted.

      10                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  And can we get a short title?

      11                 MR. MOYLE:  Excerpt of TECO Annual Risk

      12       Management Report.

      13                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you, sir.

      14                 MR. MOYLE:  69?

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes, sir.

      16       BY MR. MOYLE:

      17            Q    Would you please identify this exhibit?

      18            A    This particular exhibit is page three of six of

      19       the Annual Risk Management Report that was filed on April

      20       1st and corrected, as I mentioned earlier, on August 31st

      21       of this, of 2010.

      22            Q    Okay.  And what was the correction that was

      23       made?

      24            A    It was to the actual amount hedged, I believe,

      25       to December of '09.  I think there was a transposition
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       1       error for that particular month that was trued up.

       2            Q    Okay.  And I think in your opening you had

       3       talked about that the Company doesn't take speculative

       4       positions; is that right?

       5            A    That's correct.

       6            Q    So am I correct then that when hedging, you,

       7       you would not take on more natural gas than you had use

       8       for; correct?

       9            A    That's correct.

      10            Q    Okay.  If you look at the November 2009 --

      11            A    Yes, sir.

      12            Q    -- number, and, again, I mean, you're treating

      13       this as confidential, so we're not going to talk numbers

      14       necessarily.  But --

      15            A    Yes.

      16            Q    -- if I could ask you to reconcile that percent

      17       hedged with your policy of not taking speculative

      18       positions, that would be helpful.

      19            A    Yes.  As we establish our bands with which we,

      20       within which we trade, what we do is we do it on a

      21       projected basis.  And so, therefore, we do our best in

      22       order to project what our volumes are going to be.  At

      23       times we fall short of that.

      24                 And so in that particular instance, that amount

      25       was over the, the amount that is in the policy to hedge;
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       1       however, it's explainable.  This is -- and this is not a

       2       situation that hasn't happened in the, before in the

       3       past, before in the past.  This was actually looked at

       4       during the audit when the Staff came down over the

       5       summer, and they felt comfortable with all of our answers

       6       to that.

       7                 They're -- it's mostly weather driven and unit

       8       outage driven.  And if you actually look over into the

       9       hedged volume column, which is the fourth one from the

      10       left, you can see that our hedge volume is even quite a

      11       bit less than what was done for October and December.

      12       And so although our consumption was quite a bit less, if

      13       you, if you reconcile the two of those, it really

      14       explains the difference there.

      15            Q    Okay.  The columns that you have where you have

      16       percent hedged, budget price and hedge price --

      17            A    Yes.

      18            Q    -- what is the, what is the budget price?

      19            A    That is what we actually put into the fuel

      20       budget or the fuel filing here.

      21            Q    So in terms of, in terms of looking at the

      22       budget price and the hedge price.

      23            A    Yes.

      24            Q    And then there's the settle price.  That's what

      25       you actually paid for it; is that right?
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       1            A    That's correct.  What it actually settled for.

       2       And the delta between the hedge price and the settle

       3       price will, if you multiply that times your hedge volume,

       4       it'll give you your mark to market gain or loss.

       5            Q    Okay.  I thought that the delta between the

       6       settle price and the budget price was somewhat

       7       remarkable, and I wanted to know if you would agree with

       8       that.

       9            A    I don't know what you mean by remarkable.

      10                 MR. MOYLE:  Well, Mr. Beasley, I mean, it's

      11       not -- you don't want the numbers talked about.

      12                 THE WITNESS:  There is --

      13                 MR. MOYLE:  I mean, I think I may talk about an

      14       order of magnitude in terms of, of there being a pretty

      15       big difference between your budget price and your settle

      16       price.  Does that work okay?

      17                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Sir, if I can address that.

      18       There, there is a difference there and it is rather

      19       large.  However, you have to remember at the time the

      20       budget is developed, we're in the summertime.  And if you

      21       go back and look at what prices we're trading at will

      22       probably dictate what our budget number would be there.

      23       And so it's, it's all a matter of when are those numbers

      24       developed?

      25       BY MR. MOYLE:
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       1            Q    Right.  But to the extent that that budget

       2       price number is the number that you're putting forward

       3       for this Commission to set fuel factors on and, you know,

       4       your hedge price is considerably less and then your

       5       settle price is even more, even considerably less, you

       6       know, that, that to me looks like a pretty big

       7       overrecovery potential the way those numbers line up.

       8       Would you agree?

       9            A    I would agree, and that was the result was

      10       somewhat of an overrecovery between the hedge price and

      11       the budget price.  But more goes into it than just the

      12       commodity itself.  There are other things that flow into

      13       that, into the budget price as well, such as the use of

      14       the natural gas transportation costs.

      15            Q    With respect to your fuel recovery, does the

      16       Company have a preference whether overrecovery, under

      17       recovery?  I mean, if you're going to be wrong, would you

      18       rather be wrong in asking for too much or --

      19            A    I think the, the Company would like to be right

      20       on the mark, although we have yet to do that.

      21            Q    And that's, that's I think where, where

      22       consumers would like you to be.  But with respect to that

      23       question, is, are you able to answer that in terms of a

      24       preference?

      25            A    Over or under?  Again, I think we'd like to be
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       1       as close to zero as possible.

       2            Q    Okay.  But based on these numbers then, it's a

       3       fair assumption that you were considerably over; correct?

       4            A    Yes, sir.

       5            Q    I had asked an earlier witness a question about

       6       the 2011 annual report, asking them to point to the

       7       numerical assessment of an acceptable level of price risk

       8       for natural gas found in the management plan.  Could you

       9       do that for me?  And you're familiar with the original

      10       hedging order; is that right?

      11            A    The 2002 hedging order?

      12            Q    Yes, ma'am.

      13            A    Yes.

      14            Q    And that was one of the components of that;

      15       correct?

      16            A    I would have to go back and look at -- I know

      17       there was a list of 14 or 15 different items.

      18            Q    Okay.  Well, I'll represent to you that it was.

      19       If you want to double-check, I can show it to you.

      20            A    Okay.

      21            Q    But if you would just point to the numerical

      22       assessment of an acceptable level of price risk for

      23       natural gas.

      24            A    I believe that on page 4 of the risk management

      25       plan for 2011 there's some confidential data that's
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       1       listed on the bottom of page 4 and continues on to the

       2       page, to the top of page 5.

       3            Q    Okay.  Do you, do you set forth your

       4       limitations?  Do you have a dollar limit as to how much

       5       the consumers might be exposed to as a result of hedging?

       6            A    No, we do not.

       7            Q    Okay.  Do you think that might be something to

       8       look at in the future?

       9            A    Explain to me a little bit further about what

      10       you're getting at.

      11            Q    Well, in terms, in terms of the order of

      12       magnitude of the potential financial impacts, to have a

      13       provision that says, look, you know, you can hedge, but

      14       we don't want hedging losses coming forward in the amount

      15       of a billion dollars.  So can you tailor your program in

      16       a way that, you know, through collars and swaps and all

      17       these fancy trading mechanisms, you're not, we're not

      18       going to be looking at more than a billion dollars in

      19       losses on an annual basis?

      20            A    I think that would be something that the

      21       Commission would have to approach each of the companies

      22       and have to look at the companies' individual fuel mix

      23       and, and programs in order to attempt that if, if there

      24       was a certain dollar threshold that they were looking to

      25       avoid.
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       1                 Remember though that we do also have the

       2       10 percent midcourse correction that can occur throughout

       3       the year, which would also true up prices if, if any of

       4       the companies were to get out of whack, if you will, on a

       5       plus or minus 10 percent basis or above.

       6                 MR. MOYLE:  Okay.  That's all the questions I

       7       have.  Thank you.

       8                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you, sir.

       9                 Staff?

      10                        CROSS EXAMINATION

      11       BY MS. BENNETT:

      12            Q    Thank you.  Good morning or afternoon.

      13            A    Good afternoon.

      14            Q    Ms. Wehle, I'm -- Wehle; right?

      15            A    Wehle.

      16            Q    After four years I think I've got it right.

      17                 I'm Lisa Bennett with Commission Staff.  I

      18       think on the desk before you is Staff's Exhibit Number

      19       67, 67.

      20            A    Yes, ma'am.

      21            Q    Have you had an opportunity to review this

      22       document in the past?

      23            A    I have.  Mostly the Tampa Electric portion of

      24       it.

      25            Q    And the Tampa Electric portion of that starts
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       1       on page 79; is that correct?

       2            A    Yes.

       3            Q    And can you tell me what involvement TECO had

       4       with the preparation and presentation of this study?

       5            A    We were very involved with the gentleman from

       6       the Staff that came and visited with, with the Company

       7       and the different group, folks in my group, as well as

       8       the Risk Management Group answering questions, providing

       9       transaction data.  A lot of the, of the background data

      10       came from the fuels management area to, to populate this

      11       particular report.

      12            Q    And were you also involved in several informal

      13       meetings regarding this?

      14            A    Yes, ma'am.

      15            Q    And did this audit end up in Order Number

      16       PSC-080667-PAA?

      17            A    Yes.

      18            Q    And I want to turn now to -- the Commission has

      19       determined as prudent the hedging transactions prior to

      20       July 31st, 2009; is that correct?

      21            A    That's correct.

      22            Q    For the results of hedging activities for the

      23       12-month period ending July 31st, 2010, TECO enter into

      24       hedge positions at market prices; is that correct?

      25            A    That's correct.
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       1            Q    For the same period were TECO hedging

       2       activities guided by its risk management plan?

       3            A    Yes, ma'am.

       4            Q    In the 2008 fuel clause proceeding, the

       5       Commission approved TECO's risk management plan for

       6       hedging transactions entered into during 2009; is that

       7       correct?

       8            A    Could you repeat the question?

       9            Q    Sure.  In the 2008 fuel clause proceeding,

      10       Gulf -- I mean, sorry, Gulf did, but TECO is who I'm

      11       asking you about, presented its risk management plan for

      12       hedging transactions and that was approved.

      13            A    Correct.

      14            Q    And that was for 2009 hedging activities?

      15            A    Yes, ma'am.

      16            Q    Okay.  Does TECO's risk management plan that

      17       governs the 2011 hedging transactions in your opinion

      18       comply with the guidelines established in Order 080667?

      19            A    Yes, it does.

      20            Q    Would you agree with me that the purpose of

      21       TECO's hedging activities is to reduce TECO's exposure to

      22       fuel price volatility?

      23            A    Yes, ma'am.

      24            Q    And based on this purpose, will there be times

      25       when TECO has hedging gains or savings and times when
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       1       they have losses?

       2            A    Yes, it will.

       3                 MR. BEASLEY:  I have no further questions.

       4                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  To the Commission

       5       board.  Commissioner Skop.

       6                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Thank you.  I had asked

       7       Staff to locate some information that's not yet been

       8       forthcoming, so I would respectfully request if we could

       9       take a ten- or 15-minute break at this point to allow me

      10       to get the information I need, which is confidential

      11       information, I'd appreciate that, as the ability to ask

      12       questions that I have.

      13                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  If it's okay, I'd like to go

      14       to the rest of the board.  And if it's not here at that

      15       time, we can take the recess.

      16                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  All right.

      17                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioner Brisé.

      18                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

      19                 I just have one question.  When we're looking

      20       at Exhibit 69, which is marked confidential, you

      21       mentioned that the difference between the budget price

      22       and the settle price is for transportation.  I'm just

      23       curious as to what percentage would represent the

      24       transportation cost or price.

      25                 THE WITNESS:  Is 69 the page 3 of 6?
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       1                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Yes.  Page 3 of 6.

       2                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Actually I'd like to

       3       correct that statement.  I don't think there's any

       4       transportation costs in, in these actual budgeted numbers

       5       in order to do a proper compare, apples-to- apples

       6       comparison.

       7                 So, but what my point to Mr. Moyle was is that

       8       there are transportation costs associated with natural

       9       gas that actually do flow through the clause as well

      10       besides just these numbers here on the commodity.

      11                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Follow-up, Mr. Chair?

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes.

      13                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  You also represented that

      14       there are some other costs that are incurred as part of

      15       the budget price that, that aren't necessarily the

      16       commodity price found at the settle price.  So if you

      17       could elaborate on that.

      18                 THE WITNESS:  There are -- any other costs

      19       associated with getting the gas to your facility.

      20       Mr. Moyle also brought up the fact that we do maintain

      21       natural gas storage at a facility, and there are fees

      22       associated with that that would flow through the clause

      23       as well.  So that's another type of, of cost that would

      24       actually be incurred.

      25                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Follow-up?
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes, sir.

       2                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Thank you.  If you could

       3       quantify that for me, not, not in terms of the dollars,

       4       but just quantify within that difference that exists --

       5                 THE WITNESS:  Uh-huh.

       6                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  -- how much of that

       7       difference in terms of percentage goes towards those

       8       costs versus what we see as the actual.

       9                 THE WITNESS:  I don't have the storage costs

      10       associated readily.  You know, we could file that as a

      11       late-filed exhibit, if you'd like.

      12                 However, on, on the transportation side,

      13       anywhere from, a rule of thumb, 76 cents to in the

      14       neighborhood of $1.50 depending on how much

      15       transportation is used in a given month and how much you

      16       actually have procured and which phases of gas

      17       transportation purchases have been made on the pipelines.

      18                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Okay.  Thank you.

      19                 THE WITNESS:  Uh-huh.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioner Edgar.

      21                 COMMISSIONER EDGAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

      22                 Good afternoon.  A little bit ago Mr. Moyle

      23       asked you to discuss or distinguish the difference

      24       between physical hedging and financial hedging.

      25                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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       1                 COMMISSIONER EDGAR:  Could you either give that

       2       answer again or elaborate on it a little more?

       3                 THE WITNESS:  Sure.  Sure.  And specifically it

       4       relates to our coal purchases.  We, we consider that

       5       physical hedging because we are actually taking delivery

       6       of the underlying product in that contract, as opposed to

       7       financial hedging where you're actually doing an

       8       over-the-counter trade or you're doing some kind of a

       9       derivative on an exchange.

      10                 And so under physical hedging, like I said

      11       earlier, that really relates to, to our coal purchases

      12       where we actually fix the price or as much of the price

      13       as we can with the actual counter party that we're buying

      14       the commodity from.

      15                 COMMISSIONER EDGAR:  Thank you.  And you've

      16       done it, but I'm going to ask this anyway.

      17                 THE WITNESS:  Sure.

      18                 COMMISSIONER EDGAR:  In your initial response

      19       to Mr. Moyle you used the term "fix the contract" or

      20       "fixing the contract," and I was wondering if you could

      21       expand on that term specifically?

      22                 THE WITNESS:  Sure.  For instance, if the, if a

      23       particular coal type is trading at, just a round number,

      24       $50 a ton, we would fix that price on a go-forward basis

      25       for, let's say, calendar 2011.  So all the coal that we
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       1       would buy from that counter party would be priced at

       2       $50 a ton taken at a certain delivery point.  That's what

       3       I mean by that.

       4                 COMMISSIONER EDGAR:  Thank you.  Thank you.

       5                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I think we're still waiting

       7       for some more information for Staff to bring down here.

       8       So right now I have about 12 after 2:00.  Let's give it

       9       about ten minutes.  I'm sorry.  Quarter after 2:00.

      10       Let's give it about ten minutes.  Is that okay, Mr. Skop?

      11       So about 25 after we'll reconvene.

      12                 (Recess taken.)

      13                 All right.  Let's get started again.

      14                 Commissioner Skop, you have the floor.

      15                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Thank you.

      16                 Good afternoon, Ms. Wehle.

      17                 THE WITNESS:  Good afternoon.

      18                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  I was actually hoping Staff

      19       would find a copy of the hedging plan and guidelines that

      20       showed the specific percentages that, within the plan

      21       that TECO submitted on how they would hedge their

      22       specific fuel requirements for various fuel commodities

      23       and for natural gas without giving away what the

      24       percentages were, which I don't remember but I could

      25       probably be real close in guessing.  There's a certain
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       1       percentage by each month of the year that TECO planned to

       2       hedge its natural gas requirements for.  Is that

       3       generally correct?

       4                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

       5                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  And in relation to what's

       6       been marked for identification as Exhibit 69, which is a

       7       confidential document, Mr. Moyle asked you some questions

       8       regarding the November month, which, as the title, I

       9       mean, as the column is entitled percentage hedged.  That

      10       threw me a little bit, so it caused me, during the break,

      11       since Staff did not have the data available, to create a

      12       spreadsheet to better understand how the numbers on

      13       those, on that page originated.  And so I think I

      14       understand that the reason for that percentage hedged in

      15       November basically results from, from other data on that

      16       same row; is that correct?

      17                 THE WITNESS:  That is correct.

      18                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  All right.  But in

      19       the aggregate, and without getting into confidential

      20       information, TECO for natural gas in 2009 hedged somewhat

      21       less than its entire fuel requirement for natural gas; is

      22       that correct?

      23                 THE WITNESS:  That is correct.  And actually,

      24       sir, to further that, our total that we percentage hedged

      25       for the year was within our plan guidelines.
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       1                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And that's, that's

       2       what I was trying to ascertain, whether the month of

       3       November substantially departed from that, and I think

       4       I've convinced myself the answer is no.  It's just the

       5       manner in which the data is presented here in this table

       6       makes things appear out of the norm and somewhat

       7       confusing.  So I think I resolved that.

       8                 And the confidential number that shows the

       9       total percent hedged, I've reasonably convinced myself

      10       that that's in line looking at what the hedged amounts

      11       would be per month based on the hedge volume versus the

      12       total annual consumption.  I think I ball parked it to

      13       get a comfort level with it in the absence of having the

      14       data.

      15                 The other two questions I had -- actually three

      16       questions -- is you mentioned that for 2010 to date the

      17       loss on the hedging program for natural gas is

      18       approximately $53 million; is that correct?

      19                 THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

      20                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And then for 2011,

      21       at this point in time it's approximately $11 million, but

      22       that could change given that, you know, we don't know

      23       what the gas price is going to be in 2011 yet; is that

      24       correct?

      25                 THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  That's just on
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       1       realized losses at this point.

       2                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And then on that

       3       table that's within Exhibit 69 that we've been discussing

       4       where it talks about budget price versus the settlement

       5       price versus the hedge price, am I correct to understand

       6       that the budget price is based on forward-looking fuel

       7       forecasts that TECO prepares when it submits its hedging

       8       plan or fuel forecast for the year.

       9                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

      10                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And would it also be

      11       correct to understand that the hedge price is the actual

      12       price of the hedge that was placed in that specific month

      13       shown for 2009?

      14                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

      15                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  And the settlement

      16       price would be actually the closing price of gas either

      17       by the contract or the Henry Hub.  Can you elaborate on

      18       that?

      19                 THE WITNESS:  It's, it's the NYMEX contract.

      20       Yes, sir.

      21                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  All right.  So the

      22       closing price of the NYMEX contract at a specific

      23       delivery point.

      24                 THE WITNESS:  At the Henry Hub.  Yes, sir.

      25                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  Okay.  All right.  Thank
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       1       you.

       2                 All right.  And then just one final question

       3       that I had, and it gets into a question I had previously

       4       for TECO, and I think Mr. Moyle tried to touch upon, I

       5       think, what I was trying to articulate.

       6                 In following the hedging guidelines and the

       7       hedging plans that have been submitted by each of the

       8       respective investor-owned utilities and approved by this

       9       Commission, those dictate, you know, the utility is going

      10       to do something by percentage in a given month spread

      11       across the year.

      12                 And I think that the concern I had, and I think

      13       the point Mr. Moyle was trying to get at, you know,

      14       following that prescriptively obviously provides

      15       regulatory certainty, which is important to the utilities

      16       and equally important to the Commission.  So I understand

      17       that.

      18                 I think that the question I have, and the same

      19       would hold true for the other utilities, if the utilities

      20       saw something like a historical low in natural gas that

      21       would clearly provide a legitimate rationale for revising

      22       their hedging plan or seeking to depart for it for

      23       various specific reasons, i.e., a tremendous cost savings

      24       to the consumer by locking in natural gas.  And I

      25       understand the point you made about you don't want to be
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       1       second guessed if we hedge at a dollar and it drops to 50

       2       cents, and that's a legitimate concern.

       3                 But is there any reason that TECO, and this

       4       applies to the other utilities, have not -- you know, if

       5       they see an opportunity, and I know we're not

       6       speculating, but we're at, you know, gas has fallen out,

       7       we're at a historical low, so we're at a floor, so there

       8       can't be much downside, but there could be a lot of

       9       upside.  And that's where it starts costing consumers a

      10       lot more money if those -- you know, I heard a comment

      11       that you hedge on the way down.  But, you know, where

      12       consumers incur a lot of additional cost is when prices

      13       start moving up dramatically.

      14                 So the question I have as a parting thought is,

      15       is has there been any consideration given, instead of

      16       prescriptively following the approved hedging plan, to

      17       coming in with opportunities that are not speculative but

      18       just sound judgment of trying to lock in prices and maybe

      19       depart from, you know, hedging X percent in this month

      20       and X percent in that month and a little more the next

      21       month throughout the year, and just saying, look, we see

      22       an opportunity and we want to be able to lock in all of

      23       our fuel requirements while gas is historically low?  Has

      24       there been any discussion or thought, or I mean are the

      25       utilities just scared to propose that in the Commission?
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       1       Because I don't think the Commission would, you know, I

       2       don't want to speak for my colleagues, but I mean

       3       obviously the Commission looks favorably on trying to do

       4       the right things to save Florida ratepayers money.

       5                 And I think that, you know, we can get

       6       prescriptively caught up in hedging plans which were put

       7       in place to protect the utilities from armchair

       8       quarterbacking and second guessing and provide regulatory

       9       certainty, and I'm fine with that.  But I also can't be

      10       agnostic to the fact that gas is at historical lows, and

      11       there may be some latitude there for utilities to propose

      12       something a little bit, you know, outside the scope of

      13       what the plan is instead of prescriptively following a

      14       plan.  And I just wanted to get your perspective on that.

      15                 THE WITNESS:  Commissioner, I, I've been a part

      16       of the hedging workshops and dockets since they actually

      17       started in 2002.  And the one thing I think that all

      18       participants have gleaned from it is that there's just a

      19       lot of oversight related to hedging in general and what's

      20       the best way to do it and what's the right way to do it.

      21                 And I think the overall feeling, I'll just

      22       speak for TECO, the others might share this, is that

      23       we're very concerned about the Monday morning

      24       quarterbacking, especially since in light of the fact

      25       that we revisited this in 2008, we went through numerous
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       1       meetings, informal, more formal, audits, reviews, and all

       2       we did was go back and say that the programs that we had

       3       in place were effective and so forth.

       4                 To say that we've never said, gee, wouldn't it

       5       be great if we just lock it in and we can kind of, you

       6       know, not worry about the rest of the year, I mean, we,

       7       there are, you know, water cooler discussions, if you

       8       will, about things like that.

       9                 But, again, we're, I think as a company we're

      10       very concerned about the fact that, you know,

      11       Commissioners may leave, you know, new people may come in

      12       and see it and, and provide a different perspective to it

      13       after it's all said and done.  And what's the appropriate

      14       amount of time?  Do you do it just for 2011?  Do you look

      15       at it for longer than that?

      16                 I agree with you, it's, it's a very difficult

      17       decision to make.  I think if the Commission approached

      18       the utilities and said, you know, we think it's ripe for

      19       us to look at a short window, we certainly would be open

      20       to that.  However, I think given the fact that we've had

      21       so much scrutiny in this particular area, in fact, to the

      22       point where we feel like in years where there are mark to

      23       market gains we don't hear about it, but in years where

      24       there's mark to market losses, it's kind of drug out from

      25       the closet and revisited, we're just, we're skeptical,
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       1       we're skittish.  And so, therefore, I don't know that

       2       you're going to see it brought forth by one of the

       3       utilities, and that's just my honest opinion.

       4                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  And I appreciate your

       5       candor on that.  Again, I've been through the, the

       6       hedging discussion that the Commission entertained in

       7       2008 where we did put in some what I feel to be best

       8       practices to protect Florida ratepayers, but also to

       9       mitigate fuel price volatility that has been substantial,

      10       particularly in the natural gas markets, whether that be

      11       through market manipulation or things beyond control.

      12       But for some of our utilities, they get a lot of their

      13       generation from natural gas.

      14                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.

      15                 COMMISSIONER SKOP:  So gas swings have a big

      16       price impact on, on Florida ratepayers, including, you

      17       know, not only residential, but commercial.

      18                 But -- and I understand the armchair

      19       quarterbacking and the reluctance, you know, probably

      20       better than most.  So I appreciate the position.

      21                 I think that I alluded to or tried to hint at

      22       this during last year's fuel proceeding.  You know, I

      23       know that we can religiously and prescriptively follow

      24       the hedging plan that's in place so everyone is protected

      25       because, you know, hey, we did what the Commission
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       1       approved, and I understand that.  I'm just saying there

       2       are, I think, unique times such as now where natural gas

       3       is at a, you know, a low that we have not seen in quite

       4       some time to where thinking outside of the box instead of

       5       religiously or prescriptively following a hedging plan

       6       might have some merit, might have some benefit not only

       7       to the Company but to Florida ratepayers.

       8                 And, again, you know, I respect the utilities

       9       needing regulatory certainty and that's what the hedging

      10       plan provides, but I also equally appreciate innovative

      11       thinking and outside of the box thinking that saves

      12       Florida ratepayers money.

      13                 And, again, I would, you know, at least from my

      14       perspective, if the utilities have a good idea -- I'm

      15       only here for two months, I'm out the door.  But it seems

      16       to me that if you've got the right idea and it's founded

      17       on, on trying to leverage something to the benefit of

      18       your ratepayers, then certainly I think it would be

      19       foolhardy of the Commission not to consider any proposal

      20       put forth that would not offer substantial benefit to the

      21       ratepayers that does not involve speculation.

      22                 But I, I've seen the -- and, as you mentioned,

      23       where in the good years where there's a savings, we don't

      24       hear a peep about it.  And then when gas falls through

      25       the floor, gas falls through the roof, you know, all we
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       1       hear is losses, losses, losses.  And that becomes a

       2       concern because it's asymmetric to some degree because

       3       we're focused on one thing at one time instead of the

       4       long-term or the big picture.  But the losses can be

       5       substantial when gas trends downward, as we've seen, and

       6       that is a concern.

       7                 But also you could look at it conversely, that

       8       could be an opportunity, instead of prescriptively

       9       following a rigid plan, to look into whether you could

      10       lock in natural gas at least for the, for the current

      11       year or, you know, some portion outward.  Because as

      12       prices go up, then, you know, unhedged or over time as

      13       prices go up you don't maximize the savings.  But I know

      14       you can't time the market and I'm not suggesting

      15       speculation, but I am looking at, you know, gas prices

      16       that are very, very, very, very, very low.  And I know

      17       when gas prices were very, very, very high when I managed

      18       wind projects in California, I know what I did to lock in

      19       revenue based on, on the pricing I had in place.

      20                 But I'll leave that to you guys.  I just wanted

      21       to get your perspective, and I appreciate your candor on

      22       that matter.  Thank you.

      23                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.

      24                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Other Commissioners?

      25                 Redirect?
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       1                 MR. BEASLEY:  No to redirect, sir.  I'd like to

       2       move the admission of Exhibit 29, and also note that the

       3       document marked Exhibit 69 is contained on a confidential

       4       basis within Exhibit 29.  So it's in the record, if we

       5       could perhaps just have this Exhibit 69 recollected.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. Moyle.

       7                 MR. MOYLE:  I think that's okay, as long as we

       8       identify it real clearly for the record.  If you could

       9       just identify where within your Exhibit 28 it's found,

      10       because there's a lot of reference to 69 in the

      11       discussion.

      12                 MR. BEASLEY:  Right.  It's Exhibit 29, and I

      13       will be happy to show you where it is in the exhibit.

      14                 MR. MOYLE:  Okay.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  So we're going to put

      16       Exhibit 29 in the record and we're not going to put 69.

      17       Is that correct?

      18                 MR. BEASLEY:  That's what we would propose.

      19       Yes, sir.

      20                 MR. MOYLE:  Can I get it on the record where it

      21       is in the exhibit?  I mean, you can show me, but that's

      22       not going to be in the record.  Or alternatively we can

      23       put 69 in.  Whatever.  You know, I don't have strong

      24       feelings one --

      25                 MR. BEASLEY:  It's Page 3 of 6 of the Risk
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       1       Management Report which is identified as such in Exhibit

       2       29, Risk Management Report.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Is that sufficient?

       4                 MR. MOYLE:  Yes, sir.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  So we are going to

       6       move Exhibit 29 into the record.

       7                 (Exhibit 29 admitted into the record.)

       8                 And we're not going to put 69 there.  I take it

       9       Staff is going to collect 69 back up again?

      10                 MS. BENNETT:  Staff is going to collect 69.

      11                 And Staff would also at this point in time move

      12       Exhibit Number 67 into the record.  That's the hedging

      13       audit report that we've been discussing.

      14                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Staff is moving 67 into the

      15       record.  Okay.

      16                 (Exhibit 67 admitted into the record.)

      17                 MS. BENNETT:  Unless there's objections to it.

      18                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Are there any objections to

      19       moving 67 into the record?  Okay.  Sounds good.

      20                 Mr. Beasley.

      21                 MR. BEASLEY:  That concludes our case.

      22                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Do we have any other

      23       questions or things for this witness?

      24                 MS. BENNETT:  No, Mr. Chairman.

      25                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I believe you're excused.
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       1       Thank you so very much for spending your time with us.

       2                 (Transcript continues in sequence in Volume 3.)
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